2001

# Utah v. Sergio Renaga-Gutierrez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction for one count of Distributing or Agreeing, Consenting, Offering or Arranging to Distribute a Controlled Substance, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (Supp. 2000), in the Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah, the Honorable Judith S. Atherton, Judge, presiding. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996). See Addendum A (Judgment and Conviction).

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

I. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support the distribution charge?

Standard of Review: “An appellate court should overturn a conviction for insufficient evidence when it is apparent that there is not sufficient competent evidence as to each element of the crime charged for the fact-finder to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant committed the crime.” State v. Layman, 1999 UT 79, ¶12, 985

P.2d 911 (citations omitted).

II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to give two instructions on the lesser included offenses of solicitation of a controlled substance and attempted possession?

Standard of Review: “Whether a trial court committed error in refusing to give a requested jury instruction is a question of law, which we review for correctness.” State v. Kruger, 2000 UT 60, ¶11, 6 P.3d 1116 (citation omitted).

III. Whether a new trial is merited based on the misconduct of the prosecutor during closing argument?

Standard of Review: “This court will reverse on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct only if defendant has shown that the actions or remarks of [prosecuting] counsel call to the attention of the jury a matter it would not be justified in considering in determining its verdict and, if so, under the circumstances of the particular case, whether the error is substantial and prejudicial such that there is a reasonable likelihood that, in its absence, there would have been a more favorable result. . . . In determining whether a given statement constitutes prosecutorial misconduct, the statement must be viewed in light of the totality of the evidence presented at trial. Further, because the trial court is in the best position to determine the impact of a statement upon the proceedings, its rulings on whether the prosecutor's conduct merits a mistrial will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Cummins, 839 P.2d 848, 852 (Utah App. 1992) (citations omitted).

## **PRESERVATION OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant Sergio Renaga-Gutierrez's ("Renaga-Gutierrez") motion for a directed verdict is preserved on the record for appeal ("R.") at 102 and 161[125]. His denied request for two instructions on lesser included offenses is preserved at R.161[122-24]. His objections to the prosecutor's inappropriate remarks during closing are preserved at R.161[147-48].

## **STATUTES**

The following statutes are determinative of the issues on appeal. Their text is provided in full in Addendum B.

Distributing or Agreeing, Consenting, or Arranging to Distribute a Controlled Substance - Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (Supp. 2000);

Possession of a Controlled Substance - Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 2000);

Attempt - Utah Code Ann. § 76-4-101 (1999);

Solicitation of a Controlled Substance - Salt Lake City Ordinance 11.12.100 (1996);

Lesser Included Offenses - Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402 (1999).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings, and Disposition in the Court Below.**

Appellant Sergio Renaga-Gutierrez ("Renaga-Gutierrez") was charged by information with one count of unlawful distribution, offering, agreeing, consenting or

arranging to distribute a controlled or counterfeit substance, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii). R.5. An arrest warrant was issued. R.1. After a jury trial, Renaga-Gutierrez was convicted as charged. R.101-03. During the State's rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor made three inappropriate remarks. R.161[147-49]. Renaga-Gutierrez objected to all three. Id. The trial court overruled the objections. Id.

Renaga-Gutierrez moved for a directed verdict after all the evidence was presented. R.161[125]. The trial court denied the motion. Id. Renaga-Gutierrez requested jury instructions on the lesser included offenses of attempted possession, a class B misdemeanor, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) and 76-4-101, and solicitation of a controlled substance, a class B misdemeanor, pursuant to Salt Lake City Ordinance 11.12.100. R.81, 95. The trial court denied the requested instructions. R.161 [122-24].

Renaga-Gutierrez timely appeals. R.143-44.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Detective Brian Purvis (“Purvis”) of the Salt Lake City Police Department was working undercover vice with his sergeant and three other detectives in the late night and early morning hours of August 13-14, 2000. R.160[24]. They were patrolling the area of 900 S. and State Street in Salt Lake City for underage drinkers. Id. They entered a bar located on 900 S. between State and Main. Id.

The bar's security guard at the door told Purvis that he thought drug deals were

occurring in the bathroom. R.160[26]. Purvis, acting alone, walked through the café portion of the bar, a long hallway, and around the crowded dance floor to the men's restroom. R.160[27]. He noted that most of the patrons were in western-style dress. R.160[28].

Purvis entered the men's room. R.160[29]. There were several people in the large restroom. Id. Two men stood in the center of the room. Id. Purvis identified one of the men as Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[30-31]. Purvis noted that Renaga-Gutierrez was not in western dress like the other patrons, but wore a large football jersey, long shorts, high socks, tennis shoes and a large flat-brimmed hat. Id. The other man wore a cowboy hat and western shirt. R.160[31].

All the people in the men's room, including Renaga-Gutierrez and the man he spoke to, left the restroom about the same time. R.160[32]. Purvis followed and went into the bar area to keep an eye out for underage drinking. R.160[32-33]. After approximately ten minutes, Purvis observed Renaga-Gutierrez go back into the men's room followed by two other men. R.160[35]. Purvis considered following the men back into the restroom, but did not do so because he figured they would all scatter as they did before. R.160[35].

Purvis was called away by one of the other officers who had picked up two underage drinkers. R.160[35]. He exited the bar with the other officers to issue citations to the minors. R.160[36]. The sergeant instructed Purvis to patrol the parking lot for more illicit drinking. R.160[36].

Purvis eventually noticed Renaga-Gutierrez and another man, Ignacio Acevedo (“Acevedo”), in the parking lot. R.160[39]. He watched them but had no reason to approach them. R.160[40]. Renaga-Gutierrez led as the two men walked a short distance and then stopped by a small delivery truck. R.160[40,42]. Renaga-Gutierrez turned to face Acevedo. R.160[41]. Purvis suspected a drug deal at that point based on his previous observations of Renaga-Gutierrez. Id.

Purvis testified on direct examination that he saw both men facing one another and that both had their hands extended in front of them. R.160[43]. Both men were looking down at their hands. Id. Purvis testified that he could not clearly see what the men were holding. R.160[44]. After they made a two-handed hand shake, Renaga-Gutierrez pulled his left hand away. Id. His right hand remained between Acevedo's hands. Id. Purvis said he saw cash in Renaga-Gutierrez's hand, and something white in Acevedo's hand. R.160[44-45]. He never saw the white package in Renaga-Gutierrez's hand. R.160[73]. The first time he noticed the white package was when Acevedo carried it in his hand after walking away from Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[73]. He did not hear any conversation between Renaga-Gutierrez and Acevedo regarding a drug deal. R.160[74].

Upon cross-examination, Purvis testified that he saw “one person holding [the money], push it across, and the other person take it.” R.160[72]. He did not see who originally held the money before it passed hands, only that it was being held between them as he approached. Id. He also testified that he wrote in his incident report that he

saw Renaga-Gutierrez pull the money from Acevedo's hand. R.160[59]. Purvis' testimony at the preliminary hearing differed. There, he testified that he never saw Acevedo with the money in his hands. R.160[72-73].

Purvis surmised that a hand-to-hand drug transaction had occurred based on his experience as an undercover agent and his observations of other such deals. R.160[47]. Acevedo and Renaga-Gutierrez walked away in opposite directions. R.160[46]. Purvis saw Acevedo put his hand in his pocket. Id. Purvis stopped Acevedo while two other officers stopped Renaga-Gutierrez. Id. Purvis searched Acevedo and found a twist containing white powder in his front pocket. Id. Two more twists were found when he was searched at the jail. R.160[52]. The substance in each of the packets was identified as cocaine. R.160[51].

Detective Cade Martin ("Martin") testified that he and Detective Woodbury ("Woodbury") were the arresting officers who stopped Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[81]. Woodbury ordered Renaga-Gutierrez to put his hands up. R.160[82]. He held money in his left hand. Id. Woodbury took it and gave it to Martin. Id. The officers frisked Renaga-Gutierrez and found a folded wad of money in his pocket. R.160[83]. The officers found another large sum of money in his wallet. R.160[85]. The officers found a total of \$1426.00 in \$10 and \$20 denominations on Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[85].

Acevedo testified for the defense. He admitted that he bought four twists of cocaine earlier in the day at a different location. R.160[99-100]. He consumed one while in the bar and had three left over when he was stopped and searched. R.160[100]. He

testified that he had been using drugs for one-to-two years. R.160[109].

Acevedo had known Renaga-Gutierrez for one month prior to this incident. R.160[101]. He described him as a “friend[.]” R.160[105]. He could not recall that he could not remember Renaga-Gutierrez's name at the preliminary hearing. R.160[106]. Acevedo went to the bar on August 13<sup>th</sup> around 11:00 p.m. to go dancing. R.160[99]. He drank six beers. Id. He left the bar and saw Renaga-Gutierrez in the parking lot. R.160[101]. Acevedo went up to him, said “hello,” and the men started talking. R.160[102]. Acevedo said he did not get the drugs later found on him from Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[101]. He never offered to sell drugs to Renaga-Gutierrez, nor did Renaga-Gutierrez offer to sell them to him. R.160[102].

Acevedo pled to attempted possession of cocaine as a result of this incident. R.160[107]. At the time of trial, Acevedo was incarcerated and was to be deported to Mexico. Id. He asserted at trial that he had nothing to gain or lose by testifying on behalf of Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[111].

Maria Renaga, Appellant's mother, also testified for the defense. R.160[113]. She asserted that Renaga-Gutierrez had a large sum of cash on him because he sold his 1989 Honda to her brother for \$2000. R.160[114]. She observed the transaction because it took place at her house. Id. She explained that her son lives with her. R.160[115]. Although she did not want him to go to jail, she testified that she would not lie for her son and that her testimony was true. Id.

During his rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor made three inappropriate



statements. The following colloquy between counsel and the court ensued:

Prosecutor: [Ignacio Acevedo] said it was closing time and everybody was leaving. No. That's not what I heard. What I heard is that they were seeing the two of them, not a crowd of people leaving, the two of them were leaving. And what was [] Ignacio's explanation? They were going to [Mr. Renaga-Gutierrez's] car. The car they brought his mother in to tell you he had sold. Now he sold that -

Defense: Judge, I'm going to object to the statement that his mother said that he sold that car.

Court: The jury's been instructed that arguments of counsel are not to be considered. They've listened to that. I'm not going to address that. They've been properly instructed as to their job.

Defense: Very well. Thank you.

Prosecutor: . . . If they really wanted you to believe that he had sold the car, don't you think they would have brought in the bill of sale? Don't you think they'd have brought in a transfer of title? Don't you think -

Defense: Judge, I'm going to object. He's trying to switch the burden to the defense. I don't have the burden of proof in this case.

Court: Jury's been instructed as to the duty and to the arguments of counsel. Go forward.

Prosecutor: Next, the testimony of Ignacio. He's admitted to you that he's a drug user for two years. He had used that night. And he was looking for more. He sat there and told you in no uncertain terms that there's really nothing that we could do once he was deported and that, yes, he would lie for his friends.

Defense: Well, objection, Your Honor. There's no evidence to support that assertion.

Court: . . . I'm not going to repeat it. Arguments of counsel are not facts. The jury has listened to all the evidence and they can weigh the evidence and if it's inconsistent with what argument of counsel is they are aware that they are the fact finders in this case.

R.149.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in failing to grant Renaga-Gutierrez's motion for a directed verdict where the State failed to present sufficient evidence of the crime of distribution. See State v. Layman, 1999 UT 79, 985 P.2d 911; State v. Hester, 2000 UT App 159, 3 P.3d 725.

In addition, the trial court erred in failing to give the requested lesser included instructions on attempted possession, see Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 2000) and 76-4-101 (1999), or solicitation of a controlled substance, see Salt Lake City Ordinance 11.12.100 (1996), where the elements of the lessers are included in the greater offense of distribution, see Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (Supp. 2000), and there is a “rational basis” in the evidence for acquitting on the greater and convicting on the lessers. State v. Kruger, 2000 UT 60, ¶14, 6 P.3d 1116 (quotation omitted).

Finally, a new trial is merited on account of the prosecutor's prejudicial and inappropriate remarks made during closing argument. See State v. Cummins, 839 P.2d 848, 852 (Utah App. 1992) (citations omitted).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING RENAGA-GUTIERREZ'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT WHERE THE STATE DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF DISTRIBUTION.**

The trial court erred in denying Renaga-Gutierrez's motion for a directed verdict where the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support the charge of distribution

of a controlled substance beyond a reasonable doubt. R.102 (Minute Entry); 160[95-97].

“An appellate court should overturn a conviction for insufficient evidence when it is apparent that there is not sufficient competent evidence as to each element of the crime charged for the fact-finder to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant committed the crime.” State v. Layman, 1999 UT 79, ¶12, 985 P.2d 911.

In order to convict Renaga-Gutierrez under Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii), the State had to present sufficient competent evidence that he “knowingly and intentionally . . . distribute[d] a controlled or counterfeit substance, or [] agree[d], consent[ed], offer[ed], or arrange[d] to distribute” cocaine. Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii). The following evidence was presented at Renaga-Gutierrez's trial<sup>1</sup>:

- Detective Purvis was on patrol as an undercover agent in the late evening and early morning hours of August 13-14, 2000. R.160[24]. He and three other officers entered a bar at 900 S. between State and Main. Id. The security guard at the door alerted Purvis that he thought drug deals were going on in the men's bathroom.

R.160[26]. Purvis proceeded to the men's room. R.160[27].

- Purvis observed several men in the large bathroom. R.160[29]. Renaga-

---

<sup>1</sup> "It is well established that a defendant's burden on appeal when challenging the sufficiency of the evidence after a jury trial is to "marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict."" State v. Rudolph, 2000 UT App 155, ¶18, 3 P.3d 192 (citations omitted).

Gutierrez and another man stood in the center of the bathroom. Id.

- Purvis noted that most of the patrons in the bar were dressed in western-style clothing. R.160[28]. Renaga-Gutierrez, by contrast, wore a large football jersey, long shorts, high socks, tennis shoes, and a large flat-brimmed hat. R.160[30-31]. The man that Renaga-Gutierrez was with wore a western shirt and a cowboy hat. R.160[31].

- All the people in the men's room dispersed after Purvis entered, including Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[32]. Purvis also exited the restroom and went back into the bar area. R.160[32-33]. After ten minutes, Purvis observed Renaga-Gutierrez reenter the men's room with two other men. R.160[35]. He did not follow the men into the restroom. R.160[35].

- Purvis next observed Renaga-Gutierrez outside the bar in the parking lot. R.160[39]. He was with Acevedo. Id. They were walking but eventually stopped by a truck. R.160[40,42]. Renaga-Gutierrez turned to face Acevedo. R.160[41].

- Purvis saw the two men make a two-handed handshake. R.160[44]. Renaga-Gutierrez pulled his left hand away, but his right remained between Acevedo's hands. Id. Purvis then saw something white in Acevedo's hand, and cash in Renaga-Gutierrez's hand. R.160[73]. Purvis first noticed the white object in Acevedo's hand as he walked away from Renaga-Gutierrez. R.160[73].

- Purvis' testimony concerning the money varied. On cross-examination, he testified that he saw "one person holding [the money], push it across, and the other person take it." R.160[72]. He did not see who originally held the money. Id. He wrote

in his incident report that Renaga-Gutierrez pulled the money from Acevedo's hand.

R.160[59]. At the preliminary hearing, Purvis asserted that he never saw Acevedo with the money in his hands. R.160[72-73].

- Purvis testified that he suspected a hand-to-hand drug deal based on his experience as an undercover vice agent and his observations of similar drug transactions. R.160[47].

- The two men walked their separate ways. R.160[46]. Purvis saw Acevedo put his hand in his front pant pocket. Id. He stopped Acevedo and searched his person, finding a twist containing white powder in his pocket. Id. Two more twists containing white powder were found on Acevedo during a more thorough jailhouse search.

R.160[52]. The substance in all three packets was identified as cocaine. R.160[51].

- Renaga-Gutierrez was stopped by Detectives Martin and Woodbury. R.160[81]. Woodbury ordered Renaga-Gutierrez to put his hands up. R.160[82]. Renaga-Gutierrez held some money in his left hand. Id. Another large sum of money was found wadded in his pocket. R.160[83]. Yet another large sum of money was found in his wallet.

R.160[85]. Renaga-Gutierrez had a total of \$1426.00 in \$10 & \$20 denominations. Id.

This evidence, even when viewed in a light most favorable to the jury's verdict, is not competent enough to support the conviction. See State v. Anderton, 668 P.2d 1258, 1262 (Utah 1983) (viewing evidence in light most favorable to jury verdict in holding that evidence was insufficient to support conviction for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute) (footnote omitted). Indeed, the evidence presented at trial is “so lacking and

insubstantial that reasonable men could not possibly have determined guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. (footnote omitted).<sup>2</sup>

As an initial matter, the State did not present evidence that Renaga-Gutierrez had direct or constructive possession of the drugs that he allegedly sold to Acevedo or, by extension, the requisite intent to commit the crime charged. See Layman, 1999 UT 79 at ¶16 (insufficient nexus between controlled substance and defendant to support possession conviction); State v. Hester, 2000 UT App 159, ¶11, 3 P.3d 725 (reversing conviction for arranging to distribute controlled substance where circumstances were too speculative to support inference of intent)<sup>3</sup>. Purvis testified that he did not see Renaga-Gutierrez with the drugs in his hands at any point during his encounter with Acevedo. R.160[73]. Moreover, when Renaga-Gutierrez was searched, Detectives Martin and Woodbury did not find any drugs on him, see generally R.78-89, let alone quantities of drugs suggesting that he was a dealer. See State v. Gurr, 904 P.2d 238, 241 (Utah App. 1995) (“[g]enerally, triers of fact must infer the intent to distribute from evidence such as . . . quantities larger than those typically purchased for personal use”).

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