2001

Utah v. Sergio Renaga-Gutierrez : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

(R 160: 48-48) The detective also physically demonstrated what he observed to the jury and testified, “I saw this defendant pull the money from the hands of both defendants in his left hand” (R 160: 59), and on cross-examination, confirmed that he saw Acevedo “definitely handing money” to defendant (R.160: 70).¹¹ The detective further clarified that after defendant’s left hand with the money “came up” and away from Acevedo, defendant’s right hand remained down between Acevedo’s two hands “holding an object between them” (R.160. 59). As the two pulled away from each other, Acevedo closed his hand into a “fist” over the “white object,” which was fully in Acevedo’s hand as he walked away (R.160: 59-60).

Even if some inconsistencies existed between Purvis’s written report and his

¹⁰ The detective explained that he had not only observed other drug transactions but had also directly participated in one as an undercover officer (R.160: 47).

¹¹ On cross-examination, the detective agreed that “I didn’t see who had the money alone when I first walked up. I didn’t see one person take money out of their pocket. It was being held between them as I approached” (R.160: 72). Nevertheless, he explained that defendant’s actions “definitely” made it appear he was withdrawing money from Acevedo’s hands (R.160. 70).

testimonies, inconsistencies do not provide a basis to question the sufficiency of the evidence. *See Boyd*, 2001 UT 30, ¶ 14 (“When reviewing a trial wherein conflicting, competent evidence was presented, [the appellate court] simply assume[s] that the jury believed the evidence supporting the verdict.”) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

Defendant also claims the State’s evidence was insufficient because it was disputed by Acevedo, who testified that no drug sale or discussion occurred, and defendant’s mother, who opined that if defendant had cash, it must be from the sale of his car two days before. *Br.Aplt. at 14-15. See also Statement of Facts, supra.* The jury was entitled to disregard that testimony and accept as credible the detective’s observations, which were supported by the physical evidence. *See State v. Lyman*, 966 P.2d 278, 281-82 (Utah App. 1998) (“the existence of one or more alternate reasonable hypotheses does not necessarily prevent the jury from concluding that defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt”) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

In sum, the evidence was legally sufficient to support the conviction. The trial court, therefore, properly refused to direct the verdict in defendant’s favor.

POINT II

BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE ONLY SUPPORTED CONVICTION OF DISTRIBUTION OR ACQUITTAL OF ANY CHARGE, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED DEFENDANT’S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS ON LESSER OFFENSES

Defendant asserts that the trial court erred in denying his request for lesser included offense instructions on attempted possession of a controlled substance, in violation of UTAH

CODE ANN. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 2001), or, alternatively, on “solicitation of a person(s) with intent to have another commit an offense specified in [UTAH CODE ANN. §] 58-37-8,” in violation of SALT LAKE MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE 11.12.100. *Br.Aplt. at 20*. The argument lacks support.

A trial court’s denial of a requested jury instruction is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *State v. Kruger*, 2000 UT 60, ¶ 11, 6 P.3d 1116. “When a lesser included instruction is requested by the defendant, the trial court must apply an ‘evidence-based’ standard to decide whether the instruction is appropriate.” *Id.* at ¶ 12. Under this standard, a defendant is entitled to a lesser-included instruction only if: (1) the requested offense is legally included in the charged offense; and (2) the evidence provides a rational basis for the jury to acquit the defendant of the greater offense and, at the same time, convict him of the lesser. *Id.* (citing *State v. Baker*, 671 P.2d 152, 157-59 (Utah 1983)). In determining if a “rational basis” exists, the trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defense. *Id.* at ¶ 14.

The evidence-based standard recognizes that a defendant does not have the right to a compromise verdict. *Baker*, 671 P.2d at 157-58. Nor does a jury “have the right to find a fact and then refuse to render the verdict which such a finding necessarily requires.” *State v. Crick*, 675 P.2d 527, 531 (Utah 1983) (citation and quotation marks omitted). The evidence-based standard compels a trial court to “avoid doing anything, such as submitting lower crimes in an inappropriate case, that would constitute an invitation to the jury to

foreswear its duty and return a compromise or otherwise unwarranted verdict.” *Id.* (citation and quotation marks omitted). In sum, where the prosecution’s evidence supports conviction and defendant’s evidence acquittal, no lesser included offense instruction is warranted. *See State v. Shabata*, 678 P.2d 785, 790 (Utah 1984); *Crick*, 675 P.2d at 530-31; *Baker*, 671 P.2d at 160. *Cf. Lyman*, 966 P.2d at 282 n.2 (recognizing that counsel may argue alternative reasonable hypotheses to the jury, but that a trial court is not required to instruct on those alternatives). In this case, the trial court properly applied these principles and refused defendant’s lesser offense instructions.

Defendant’s theory was that he was innocent: the “defense’s theory of the case is that what happened here is that the arresting officer saw something in the parking lot, two young Hispanic men, some sort of a handshake or some sort of hands together, and made an assumption about what he thought might be going on there, a mistaken assumption” (R.160: 21; R.161: 134).¹² What the officer really saw, according to defense counsel, “was two friends, acquaintances, leaving the bar after the bar was closing, dancing was over, going to the parking lot, talking a little bit about the dance, shaking hands and saying good-bye” (R.161: 134).¹³ In support of the defense theory, Acevedo testified and denied any drug

¹² Defense counsel apparently confused the officer’s characterization of the bar as a Hispanic bar, with the officer’s observations of defendant. Detective Purvis noticed defendant because he was dressed differently than the other 200 western-clad bar patrons and had acted suspiciously inside bar (R.160: 29-31, 35-40).

¹³ There is no evidence that the dance was over and the bar emptying when Purvis observed defendant and Acevedo in the parking lot. Purvis testified that the lot was still “pretty full” when he observed the two (R.160: 39). Purvis thought that they did not want

involvement with defendant, as buyer or seller. *See Statement of Facts, supra.* And defendant's mother provided, in counsel's words, an "innocent" explanation for the money found on defendant. *See Statement of Facts, supra,* & R.161: 145. Only as an aside in closing did defense counsel speculate that, assuming a drug transaction occurred, defendant was purchasing from, not selling to, Acevedo (R.161: 140-41).

The trial court initially refused the request for any lesser offense instruction on purely legal grounds.¹⁴ Alternatively, the court addressed the lack of evidentiary support for the

to go into the bathroom and had come to the parking lot for privacy (R.160: 41-42).

¹⁴ Initially, the court erroneously opined that attempted possession was not an independent crime, but a legal fiction (R.161: 123,125). While it is true that distribution includes within its definition attempted distribution, possession does not. **Compare** UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 58-37-2(i) & (n), **with** UTAH CODE ANN. § 58-37-2(dd) (*Addendum A*). Attempted possession of cocaine is a class A misdemeanor. **See** UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) & 76-4-102 (1999) (*Addendum A*). The error is inconsequential, however, because the court went on to consider whether the evidence supported a lesser-offense instruction on the theory that defendant was attempting to purchase the drugs found on Acevedo (R.161: 123-24).

Additionally, the court properly rejected on legal grounds, defendant's request for an instruction on the municipal offense of solicitation (R.160: 122-23, 125). As the court recognized, inclusion of a city ordinance as a lesser included offense in a state felony prosecution raises jurisdictional issues (R.160: 122-23). State law permits a city prosecutor to prosecute some misdemeanor state crimes, **State v. Robertson**, 924 P.2d 889, 892-93 (Utah 1996), but a state prosecutor does not have the authority to prosecute violations of city ordinances. **Compare** UTAH CODE ANN. § 17-18-1.7 (2001), **with** UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-928 (1999) & SALT LAKE MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE 2.08.040. **See Addendum A for copies of cited provisions.** The legislative power to create ordinances is vested with the municipal governing body. **See** UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-701 (1999). Accountability for the enforcement of ordinances runs directly from the city attorney as prosecutor to the municipal governing body. **See** SALT LAKE MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE § 2.08.040(A)(3). Revenues generated from enforcement also flow directly to the city. **See** UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-716 (1999). In contrast, the prosecuting party in a felony prosecution is the State of Utah, whose prosecutors have no accountability to the

requested instructions

Analyzing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defense, the trial court found that there was no “nexus” to establish that defendant “possessed” the cocaine found on Acevedo (R.161: 124). Detective Purvis only saw the cocaine after the transaction was completed (R.160: 59-60). By that point, defendant was walking one way with the money, while Acevedo was walking in the opposite direction with the drugs (*id.*) This evidence, while sufficient to support distribution, would not support conviction of possession. Defendant effectively concedes this point. *See Br.Aplt at 14* (arguing that trial court erred in not directing the verdict since State’s evidence did not establish that defendant possessed the drugs) *But see discussion, supra, at 12-14* (distribution does not require proof of possession).

The trial court also found that there was no evidence “suggesting that this defendant intended – attempted to purchase a controlled substance” (R.161: 124). Therefore, there was no basis for instructions on either attempted possession or criminal solicitation.¹⁵ The court’s

municipality. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 17-18-1.7 & 77-1-5 (1999). Moreover, state statutes pre-empt municipal ordinances. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 (Supp. 2001). Thus, even if *arguendo* there was an evidentiary basis for a solicitation instruction, the instruction would not be pursuant to class B municipal solicitation, but pursuant to third degree felony criminal solicitation of distribution. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 76-4-203 & -204 (1999), and Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) & -(b)(i).

¹⁵ Attempted possession requires a substantial step towards acquiring possession of cocaine. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-4-101(1999). Criminal solicitation requires a request to have another commit any felony, in this case, distribution. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-4-203. Municipal solicitation is limited to requests to have another commit a drug offense. *See* SALT LAKE ORDINANCE 11.12.100. *But see note 14, supra* (defendant

finding is fully supported by the record. *See Point I, supra*. The evidence supported no middle ground. Either defendant sold the drugs Acevedo possessed, as testified to by the detective, or defendant was not guilty of any crime, as claimed by Acevedo. Defendant was not, therefore, entitled to instructions on any lesser drug offense. *See Shabata*, 678 P.2d at 790; *Crick*, 675 P.2d at 530-31; *Baker*, 671 P.2d at 160.

POINT III

THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT IN STATING HIS VIEWS OF THE EVIDENCE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT; THE TRIAL COURT, THEREFORE, PROPERLY OVERRULED DEFENDANT'S OBJECTIONS AND CAUTIONED THE JURY THAT COMMENTS OF COUNSEL WERE NOT EVIDENCE

Defendant alleges that the prosecutor committed misconduct by making “prejudicial and inappropriate remarks” during closing argument. *Br.Aplt. at 34*. Again, defendant’s argument is meritless.

Prosecutorial misconduct claims are reviewed for abuse of discretion and will be reversed only if the defendant establishes that

(1) the actions or remarks of counsel call to the attention of the jury a matter it would not be justified in considering in determining its verdict and, if so, (2) under the circumstances of the particular case, whether the error is substantial and prejudicial such that there is a reasonable likelihood that, in its absence, there would have been a more favorable result.

State v. Kohl, 2000 UT 35, ¶ 22, 999 P.2d 7 (citation and quotation marks omitted). In making this assessment, the reviewing court must consider the objected-to comments in the

not legally entitled to instruction on municipal ordinance in state felony prosecution).

context of the “arguments advanced by both sides as well as in [the] context of all the evidence,” keeping in mind that “counsel for each side has considerable latitude in closing arguments and may discuss fully his or her viewpoint of the evidence and the deductions arising therefrom.” *State v. Bakalov*, 1999 UT 45, ¶ 56, 979 P.2d 799. While a prosecutor should not express his personal opinion or personal knowledge of the facts, “a prosecutor may draw permissible deductions from the evidence and make assertions about what the jury may reasonably conclude from those deductions.” *Id.* at ¶ 57. He may also “fully discuss” these inferences and deductions with the jury. *Id.* at ¶ 59.

Prosecutorial misconduct is not established solely because a prosecutor makes an improper comment. In addition to establishing that an improper statement was made, a defendant must also show that the improper comment was “substantial” in that, absent the comment, the outcome of the trial would have been more favorable for defendant. *See Kohl*, 2000 UT 35, ¶ 24. Three factors are considered: “the severity of the misconduct, the measures adopted to cure the misconduct, and the certainty of conviction absent the improper statements.” *United States v. Modica*, 663 F.2d 1173, 1181 (2nd Cir. 1981), *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 989 (1982). *Cf. Bakalov*, 1999 UT 45, ¶¶ 56-60.

In determining the severity of the misconduct, “[t]he first question is whether the improper comments were minor aberrations in a prolonged trial or cumulative evidence of a proceeding dominated by passion and prejudice.” *Modica*, 663 F.2d at 1181 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Elements to be weighed are the “extent to which the misconduct

was intentional and the extent to which the statements were made in response to defense contentions.” *Id. Accord State v. Span*, 819 P.2d 329, 333-36 (Utah 1991) (recognizing necessity of a strong deterrent to “flagrant” or intentional misconduct, but ultimately finding the prosecutor’s intentional misconduct harmless). Additionally, the reviewing court will consider any instructions given by the trial court. *Modica*, 663 F.2d at 1181. *Accord Kohl*, 2000 UT 35, ¶¶ 6 & 24 (concluding that improper remark was harmless where jury was formally instructed that comments of counsel were not evidence and the trial court immediately told the jury to “remember my admonition[, s]tatements of the lawyers are not evidence in this case”).

Here, no objections were made during the prosecutor’s initial closing argument (R.161: 126-34). *See Addendum B for Closing Arguments*. When defense counsel gave his closing argument, he attacked Detective Purvis’s testimony (R.161: 134-37, 140-43), and then argued that Acevedo and defendant’s mother provided “evidence that proves [defendant] is innocent of this charge” (R.161: 139, 145).

In rebuttal, the prosecutor challenged defense counsel’s portrayal of the quality of the defense evidence. The prosecutor’s initial statements were objected to, one after the other:

- (1) “And what was the [sic] Ignacio’s explanation? They were going to his car. The car they brought his mother in to tell you he had sold” (R.161: 147);
- (2) “Don’t believe for [a] second that evidence of innocence. If they really wanted you to believe that he had sold the car and he had that money from the sale of the car, don’t you think they would have brought in the bill of sale? Don’t you think they’d have brought in a transfer of title?” (R.161: 148), and

(3) “Next, the testimony of Ignacio. He’s admitted to you that he’s a drug user for two years. He had used that night. And he was looking for more. He sat there and told you in no uncertain terms that there’s really nothing we could do once he was deported and that, yes, he would lie for his friends” (*id.*).

Each time, the court overruled the objection and reminded the jury of the court’s prior formal instruction that arguments of counsel were not to be considered as evidence (R.161: 148-49).¹⁶ The prosecutor continued his rebuttal argument and received one more objection, the propriety of which is not raised on appeal (R.161: 149-51).

The prosecutor’s first statement – in essence, that Acevedo and defendant’s mother made conflicting statements about the same car – was a logical evidentiary deduction. *See*

¹⁶ The court formally instructed the jury:

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